
 
 

Audit Committee 
 
 

 Thursday, 26th January, 2012 
at 6.00 pm 

  Conference Room 4 - Civic Centre 
 

This meeting is open to the public 
 

 Members 
 

 Councillor Ball (Chair) 
Councillor Mead (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Daunt 
Councillor Fuller 
Councillor Furnell 
Councillor Kaur 
Councillor Dr Paffey 
 

 Contacts 
 

 Democratic Support Officer:- 
Judy Cordell 
Tel. 023 8083 2766 
Email: judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk  

  

 Richard Ivory 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
Tel. 023 8083 2794 
Email: richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk  
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of the Audit Committee Southampton City Council’s Seven 
Priorities 

The Committee has responsibility for:- 

• providing an independent assurance to 
the Standards and Governance 
Committee on the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the 
internal control and reporting 
environment including (but not limited 
to) the reliability of the financial 
reporting process and the statement of 
internal control; 

• satisfying and providing assurance to 
the Standards and Governance 
Committee that appropriate action is 
being taken on risk and internal control 
related issues identified by the internal 
and external auditors and other review 
and inspection bodies; and 

• specifically, the oversight of, and 
provision of assurance to the 
Standards and Governance Committee 
on, the following functions:- 
 

§ ensuring that Council assets are 
safeguarded; 

§ maintaining proper accounting 
records; 

§ ensuring the independence, 
objectivity and effectiveness of 
internal and external audit; 

§ the arrangements made for co-
operation between internal and 
external audit and other review 
bodies; 

§ considering the reports of internal and 
external audit and other review and 
inspection bodies; 

§ the scope and effectiveness of the 
internal control systems established 
by management to identify, assess, 
manage and monitor financial and 
non-financial risks (including 
measures to protect against, detect 
and respond to fraud). 

• More jobs for local people  

• More local people who are well educated 
and skilled  

• A better and safer place in which to live 
and invest  

• Better protection for children and young 
people  

• Support for the most vulnerable people 
and families  

• Reducing health inequalities  

• Reshaping the Council for the future  
 
Public Representations  
At the discretion of the Chair, members of 
the public may address the meeting about 
any report on the agenda for the meeting 
in which they have a relevant interest. 
 
Smoking policy – the Council operates a 
no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 
Mobile Telephones – please turn off your 
mobile telephone whilst in the meeting. 
 
Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 
 
Access – access is available for disabled 
people. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements. 
 
Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 
2010/11  

2011 2012 

23 June 26 January  

22 September 23 April 

16 December  

 
 
 

 



 

 
CONDUCT OF MEETING 

 
Terms of Reference  
 
The terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee are contained in Article 8 
and Part 3 (Schedule 2) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

Business to be discussed 
 
Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this 
meeting. 

 

Rules of Procedure 
 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

Quorum 
 
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3. 

 
Disclosure of Interests  
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, both the existence and nature of any “personal” or “prejudicial” interests 
they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 
. 

Personal Interests 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a personal interest in any matter 
 
(i) if the matter relates to an interest in the Member’s register of interests; or 
(ii) if a decision upon a matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting to a 

greater extent than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers and inhabitants of 
the District, the wellbeing or financial position of himself or herself, a relative 
or a friend or:- 

 (a) any employment or business carried on by such person; 
 (b) any person who employs or has appointed such a person, any firm in 

which such a person is a partner, or any company of which such a 
person is a director; 

 (c)  any corporate body in which such a person has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 
 

 (d) any body listed in Article 14(a) to (e) in which such a person holds a 
position of general control or management. 

 
A Member must disclose a personal interest. 
 
 
 
 

Continued/…… 
 

 



 

 
Prejudicial Interests 

Having identified a personal interest, a Member must consider whether a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably think that the interest was so 
significant and particular that it could prejudice that Member’s judgement of the public 
interest. If that is the case, the interest must be regarded as “prejudicial” and the Member 
must disclose the interest and withdraw from the meeting room during discussion on the 
item. 
 
It should be noted that a prejudicial interest may apply to part or the whole of an item. 
 
Where there are a series of inter-related financial or resource matters, with a limited 
resource available, under consideration a prejudicial interest in one matter relating to that 
resource may lead to a member being excluded from considering the other matters relating 
to that same limited resource. 
 
There are some limited exceptions.  
 
Note:  Members are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his staff in 
Democratic Services if they have any problems or concerns in relation to the above. 

 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

• respect for human rights; 

• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

• setting out what options have been considered; 

• setting out reasons for the decision; and 

• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  
Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available on the Council’s web pages 

  

1 APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  
 

 To note any changes in membership of the Committee made in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 4.3.  
  
 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, and the Council's Code of 
Conduct adopted on 16th May 2007, Members to declare any personal or prejudicial 
interests in any matter included on the agenda for this meeting. 
 
NOTE: Members are required, where applicable, to complete the appropriate form 
recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic Support Officer 
prior to the commencement of this meeting.  
  
 

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 6th 
December 2011, and to deal with any matters arising, attached.   
  
 

4 STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

5 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2011/12  
 

 Report of the Head of Finance detailing the Annual Governance Statement 2011-12 
report, attached.   
  
 

6 AUDIT COMMISSION: AUDIT AND INSPECTION PROGRESS REPORT  
 

 Report of the Chief Internal Auditor requesting that the Committee notes the Audit 
Commission’s progress report, attached. 

  
 

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS 2012/13 TO 
2014/15  
 

 Report of the Head of Finance regarding the Council’s treasury management strategy 
for the coming year in relation to the Council’s cash flow, investment and borrowing, 
and the management of the numerous risks related to this activity, attached.   

 



 

Wednesday, 18 January 2012 Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 



 

 

- 5 - 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6 DECEMBER 2011 
 

 

Present: 
 Members of the Council 

 Councillors Ball (Chair) (Items 22-27), Mead (Vice-Chair), Daunt, Furnell, 
Kaur and Dr Paffey (Items 24-27) 
 

 Apologies 

 Councillor Fuller 
 

 Also in attendance: 

  Kate Handy and Mike Bowers – Audit Commission 
 

 
COUNCILLOR MEAD IN THE CHAIR 

 
 

19. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
The Panel noted that in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.3, Councillor Kaur 
replaced Councillor Bogle as Committee Member for the remainder of the municipal 
year. 
 

20. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  

 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 22nd September 2011 be approved 
and signed as a correct record.  (Copy of the minutes circulated with the agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 

21. AUDIT COMMISSION: ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2010/11  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Internal Auditor concerning 
the Annual Audit Letter presenting the results of the statutory audit of the Council’s 
2010/11 financial statements and the assessment of arrangements to achieve value for 
money in the Council’s use of resources.  (Copy of the report appended to the signed 
minutes).   
  

COUNCILLOR BALL IN THE CHAIR 
 

22. AUDIT COMMISSION: AUDIT AND INSPECTION PROGRESS REPORT  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Internal Auditor detailing the 
Audit Commission’s November 2011 progress report.  (Copy of the report appended to 
signed minutes).   
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3



 

 

- 6 - 
 

23. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2010/11: ACTION PLAN STATUS REPORT  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Head of Finance, detailing the 
content of the Annual Governance Statement 2010-11 Action Plan Status document.   
(Copy of the report appended to the signed minutes).   
 

24. RISK MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN 2011-12: STATUS REPORT  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Head of Finance, detailing the Risk 
Management Action Plan 2011-12 : Status Report as set out in Appendix 1.  (Copy of 
the report appended to the signed minutes).   
 

25. STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER - UPDATE  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Head of Finance, detailing the 
Strategic Risk Register, associated Risk Management Action Plans and the Summary 
of Directorate Risk Registers.  (Copy of the report circulated with the Agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 
It was agreed that Officers would provide members with further information relating to 
the category of risk in financial terms. 
 

26. NATIONAL FRAUD INITIATIVE 2010-11  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Internal Auditor detailing the 
current status of the 2010-11 National Fraud Initiative data matching exercise run by 
the Audit Commission which matched electronic data within and between participating 
bodies to prevent and detect fraud.   It was further noted that the NFI was run every two 
years and was part of the statutory audit process for health, local government and other 
public sector providers that the Audit Commission was responsible for.  (Copy of the 
report circulated with the Agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 

27. INTERNAL AUDIT: PROGRESS REPORT NOVEMBER 2011  

 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Internal Auditor, detailing the 
Internal Audit Progress Report for the period ending November 2011.  (Copy of the 
report circulated with the Agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 
 
 

 



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  AUDIT COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2011-12  

DATE OF DECISION: 26 JANUARY 2012 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF FINANCE 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Not applicable. 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is a key corporate document that is 
intended to provide an accurate representation of the corporate governance 
arrangements in place during the year and highlight those areas where significant 
gaps or improvements are required.  The production of an AGS is a mandatory 
requirement under the Accounts and Audit Regulations as updated in 2006.  

An ‘assurance gathering process’ created to support the AGS has been developed in 
line with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance 
to support development of the AGS for 2011/12. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) To approve the assurance gathering process to support the 
development of a robust Annual Governance Statement  

(Appendix 1); and 

 (ii) To note the Audit Committee’s role in respect of the development 
and approval of the Annual Governance Statement. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. 
 

The Audit Committee has responsibility to provide independent assurance to 
the Standards and Governance Committee on the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control and reporting environment, 
including (but not limited to) the reliability of the financial reporting process 
and the annual governance statement.   

2. This responsibility extends to receiving and reviewing the draft AGS, and 
where necessary challenging the sources of assurance, prior to the draft 
document being reported to Standards and Governance Committee for 
approval.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

3. No alternative options have been considered. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

4. Regulation 4 (2) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003, as amended 
by the Accounts and Audit (Amendment)(England) Regulations 2006 
requires local authorities to ‘conduct a review at least once a year of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal control’ and ‘to prepare a statement on 
internal control’ in accordance with proper practices.  

5. 

 

The AGS, which is published with the accounts, is intended to provide an 
accurate representation of the corporate governance arrangements in place 

Agenda Item 5



 2

 during the year and to identify or highlight those areas where there are 
significant gaps or where improvements are required.      

6. CIPFA/SOLACE has defined governance as “how local government bodies 
ensure that they are doing the right things, in the right way, for the right 
people in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner.  It 
comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which 
local government bodies are directed and controlled and through which they 
account to, engage with and, where appropriate, lead their communities”. 

7. The review of the effectiveness of the organisation’s overall corporate 
governance arrangements requires the sources of assurance which the 
council relies on, to be brought together and reviewed with any significant 
gaps in assurance or areas for improvement being recorded and disclosed 
within the AGS.   

8. No significant changes to the assurance gathering process in place are 
necessary on the basis that that the current process is considered to be 
robust and also noting that in the ‘2010-11 Annual Audit Letter’ the Audit 
Commission has commented that  “I have reviewed your Annual Governance 
Statement and confirm that it complies with CIPFA guidance and the content 
is consistent with my knowledge of the Council”. 

9. Overall assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the governance 
framework is sought from the following sources: Internal Audit, External 
Audit, Risk Management, Assurances provided by Directors, Performance 
Management and external inspection or review and reports.  The foregoing 
sources of assurance are underpinned by a range of corporate policies and 
procedures. 

10. To support the process an ‘Assurance Framework’ document (which 
identifies and brings together the various elements of the overall ‘assurance 
framework’) will be completed together with ‘Self Assessment 
Questionnaires’ which are issued to Directors for completion and return. 

11. A Controls Assurance Management Group (which includes the Section 151 
Officer, Chair of the Audit Committee, Monitoring Officer and Chief Internal 
Auditor) has responsibility for evaluating assurances and supporting 
evidence, assessing whether there is consistency with existing policies and 
the authority’s governance framework and for drafting the AGS.  

12. The draft AGS is presented to the Audit Committee for review and approval 
prior to being submitted to the Standards and Governance Committee for 
final approval.  The AGS is then forwarded to the Chief Executive and 
Leader of the Council for signing.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

13. None. 

Property/Other 

14. None.   



 3

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

15. The Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2003 require the Council to adopt Good Governance arrangements in respect 
of the discharge of its functions. The above arrangements are intended to 
meet those responsibilities. 

Other Legal Implications:  

16. None.  

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

17. None.  

AUTHOR: Name:  Peter Rogers Tel: 023 8083 2835 

 E-mail: peter.rogers@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: n/a 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Annual Governance Statement 2011-12: Process and Timelines 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. Not applicable 

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. Not applicable.    

 



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  1

Annual Governance Statement 2011/12 - Process and timelines

Action Meeting/Target date Responsibility

26th Jan 2012

1st to 30th March 2012

23rd April 2012 

1st to 30th March 2012

30th March 2012

16th April 2012

Risk & Assurance Manager

Review, update and complete the Assurance Framework 
document.  Review content of the Self Assessment 
Questionnaire. 

File of supporting 
evidence 

Return of self assessments and completion of Assurance 
Framework document

Paper to Audit committee re Annual Governance 
Statement ("AGS") and assurance gathering process

Risk & Assurance Manager

Issue of Self Assessment Questionnaires to Directors 
together with extract of Assurance Map for 
completion/updating.

Retain 

Review of format of the Code of Corporate Governance 
against current CIPFA guidance.

Briefing to Chair of S&G committee re AGS and briefing 
papers to S&G members for noting

Risk & Assurance Manager

Validation of self assessments by Internal Audit Chief Internal Auditor

Risk & Assurance Manager

Risk & Assurance Manager

Management Board of 
Directors 

v3 - Apr 10

23rd April to 14th May 

2012

25th May 2012

12th June 2012

w/c 18th June 2012*

28th June 2012*

2nd July 2012*

3rd July 2012

* Provisional dates

Risk & Assurance Manager

Controls Assurance 
Management Group 

Review, update and complete the Assurance Framework 
document.  Review content of the Self Assessment 
Questionnaire. 

Risk & Assurance Manager

Final draft AGS to CAMG for noting

File of supporting 
evidence 

Return of self assessments and completion of Assurance 
Framework document

Report to S&G Committee for final approval of AGS

Report to Audit Committee for review and approval of 
draft AGS

Risk & Assurance Manager

Submission of draft of AGS to Management Board of 
Directors 

Paper to Audit committee re Annual Governance 
Statement ("AGS") and assurance gathering process

Risk & Assurance Manager

Issue of Self Assessment Questionnaires to Directors 
together with extract of Assurance Map for 
completion/updating.

Controls Assurance 
Management Group

Retain 

Management Board of 
Directors 

Review of format of the Code of Corporate Governance 
against current CIPFA guidance.

Briefing to Chair of S&G committee re AGS and briefing 
papers to S&G members for noting

Risk & Assurance Manager

Validation of self assessments by Internal Audit Chief Internal Auditor

Risk & Assurance ManagerSigned by Chief Executive and Leader of the Council

Draft AGS developed in consultation with Controls 
Assurance Management Group ("CAMG").  Review and 
challenge of sources of assurance.

Risk & Assurance Manager

Risk & Assurance Manager

Management Board of 
Directors 

v3 - Apr 10

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  AUDIT COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: AUDIT COMMISSION: AUDIT AND INSPECTION 
PROGRESS REPORT 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 JANUARY 2012 

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Not Applicable 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The audit and inspection plan is based on the Audit Commission’s risk-based 
approach to audit planning as set out in the Code of Audit Practice  

An update on progress against the Plan(s) is attached as an appendix to this report. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Audit Committee notes the Audit Commission’s progress 
reports as attached. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1 The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference require it to be satisfied and 
provide assurance to the Standards and Governance Committee that 
appropriate action is being taken on risk and internal control related issues 
identified by the external auditors.  Specifically, the Committee has 
responsibility for oversight of the reports of external audit. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2 None 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3 The following Audit Commission reports are attached for consideration in the 
appendix: 

• Progress report – January 2012 

The external auditor will be in attendance at the Committee meeting to 
answer any questions. 

4 The report, as attached, has been discussed and agreed with the appropriate 
officers. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

5 None 

Property/Other 

6 None 

Agenda Item 6



 2

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

7 The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 require the Council to  

‘undertake an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records 
and of its system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices 
in relation to internal control.’ 

Other Legal Implications:  

8 None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

9 None 

AUTHOR: Name:  Neil Pitman Tel: 023 8083 4616 

 E-mail: Neil.pitman@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION? Yes/No No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Audit Commission: Progress report – January 2012 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 



Progress report 
Southampton City Council  

Audit 2011/12 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



The Audit Commission is a public corporation set 

up in 1983 to protect the public purse.

The Commission appoints auditors to councils, 

NHS bodies (excluding NHS Foundation trusts), 

police authorities and other local public services in 

England, and oversees their work. The auditors we 

appoint are either Audit Commission employees 

(our in-house Audit Practice) or one of the private 

audit firms. Our Audit Practice also audits NHS 

foundation trusts under separate arrangements.  

We also help public bodies manage the financial 

challenges they face by providing authoritative, 

unbiased, evidence-based analysis and advice.



Contents

Progress with 2011/12 audit..............................................................................2

Audit Commission Progress Report 1



Progress with 2011/12 audit 

Report AC key 

contact

Authority 

contact

Expected

report

Reported

to Audit 

Committee

Comment

Audit plan 

2011/12

Kate

Handy

Audit

Committee

June 2011 June 2011 The initial fee letter for 

2011/12 was presented to 

the audit committee in  

June 2011.  

Financial statements 

Interim audit 

memorandum 

(If appropriate) 

Mike 

Bowers

Andrew

Lowe

June 2012 Audit to start in February 

2012 and will be completed 

in April 2012. 

Annual

Governance 

Report

(ISA260)

Kate

Handy

Standards

and

Governance 

Committee

September

2012

Accounts

opinion

Kate

Handy

Standards

and

Governance 

Committee

September

2012

Final Accounts 

memorandum  

(If appropriate) 

Mike 

Bowers

Andrew

Lowe

October

2012

Value for money conclusion 

Value for 

money

conclusion

Kate

Handy

Standards

and

Governance 

Committee

September

2012

Certification of grant claims and returns 

Annual report Mike

Bowers

Andrew

Lowe

March 

2012

Report is being discussed 

with officers  

Annual Audit Letter 

Annual Audit 

Letter

Kate

Handy

Alistair Neill October

2012

Audit Commission Progress Report 2



If you require a copy of this document in an alternative 
format or in a language other than English, please call: 
0844 798 7070

© Audit Commission 2012. 

Design and production by the Audit Commission Publishing Team. 

Image copyright © Audit Commission. 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by 

the Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors 

and of the audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are 

addressed to non-executive directors, members or officers. They are 

prepared for the sole use of the audited body. Auditors accept no 

responsibility to: 

 any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

 any third party.  

Audit Commission 

1st Floor 

Millbank Tower 

Millbank

London

SW1P 4HQ 

Telephone: 0844 798 3131 

Fax: 0844 798 2945 

Textphone (minicom): 0844 798 2946 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk January 2012



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  AUDIT COMMITTEE  

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND 
PRUDENTIAL LIMITS  2012/13 to 2014/15 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 JANUARY 2012 

15 FEBRUARY 2012 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF FINANCE (CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER) 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

NOT APPLICABLE 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report explains the context within which the Council’s treasury management 
activity operates and sets out a proposed strategy for the coming year in relation to 
the Council’s cash flow, investment and borrowing, and the management of the 
numerous risks related to this activity. 

The core elements of the 2012/13 strategy are : 

• To continue to make use of short term variable rate debt to take advantage of 
the current market conditions of low interest rates. 

• To constantly review longer term forecasts and to lock in to longer term rates 
through a variety of instruments, as appropriate during the year, in order to 
provide a balanced portfolio against interest rate risk. 

• To secure the best short term rates for borrowing and investments consistent 
with maintaining flexibility and liquidity within the portfolio. 

• To invest surplus funds prudently, the Council’s priorities being: 

o Security of invested capital 
o Liquidity of invested capital 
o An optimum yield which is commensurate with security and liquidity. 

• To approve borrowing limits that provide for debt restructuring opportunities 
and to pursue debt restructuring where appropriate and within the Council’s 
risk boundaries 

With overall annual expenditure in excess of £600M and an extensive capital 
programme, the Council is required to actively manage its cash-flows on a daily basis.  
The requirement to invest or to borrow monies to finance capital programmes, and to 
cover daily operational needs, is an integral part of daily cash and investment portfolio 
management.  As at 31 March 2012 the Council’s loan portfolio is expected to be 
£324M and the total value of investments is forecast at £50M.  The Balance Sheet 
position as at 31 March 2011 showed the value of debt as £226M and the value of 
investments as £36M.  The main reason for the increase in debt is due to the housing 
reform detailed below. 

The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which measures the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes and represents the cumulative capital 
expenditure that has not yet been financed, is a key driver of borrowing strategy.   

 

Agenda Item 7



 2

Reform of the housing subsidy system has had a major impact on the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) element of the CFR and will require the Council to take on 
additional debt currently estimated at £75.5M to fund a one off settlement to central 
government in return for abolishing the annual subsidy payment.  The projected CFR 
for 31 March 2012 is £444M, of which £265M is attributed to the General Fund and 
the remaining £179M to the HRA. 

The Council’s current strategy is to minimise borrowing to below its CFR, the 
difference representing balances, reserves, provisions and working capital.  This 
approach lowers interest costs and reduces credit risk and relieves pressure on the 
Council’s counterparty list.  Borrowing is restricted to a few highly secure sources.  
These include: the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), commercial banks, the 
European Investment Bank, structured finance, and products associated with other 
local authorities.  Additionally, borrowing is restricted by two limits: the Authorised 
Limit, a statutory limit that sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross 
basis, and the Operational Boundary, which is determined by both the estimated CFR 
and day to day cash flow movements.  For 2012/13 the proposed Authorised Limit is 
£911M and proposed Operational Boundary is £869M.  These are substantially higher 
than our actual level of debt but they allow for a full debt restructure to be undertaken 
if an appropriate opportunity arises. 

Throughout the year, capital expenditure levels, market conditions and interest rate 
levels are monitored to minimise borrowing costs over the medium to longer term and 
to maintain stability.  The differential between debt costs and investment earnings 
continues to be acute, resulting in the use of internal resources in lieu of borrowing 
often being the most cost effective means of financing capital expenditure.  An 
additional strand of the strategy is to actively monitor opportunities arising for debt 
rescheduling in order to deliver savings in interest costs but with minimal risk, and to 
balance the ratio of fixed rate to variable rate debt within the portfolio. 

In order to service the Council’s day to day cash needs, the Council maintains a 
portfolio of short term investments.  The Council’s investment priorities are: the 
security of invested capital, the liquidity of invested capital, and the optimum yield that 
is commensurate with security and liquidity, in that order.  The report details the 
Council’s investment strategy, explains the institutions (counterparties) with whom the 
Council is permitted to invest, the limits related to the size of individual investments 
and the overall holding with institutions. In the annual review of this strategy several 
amendments to the investment options have been suggested.  These include: the 
addition of Corporate Bonds, the addition of a new counterparty; Bank Nederlandese 
Gemeenten and a reduction in our minimum credit rating from A+ to A- to allow the 
Council to continue investing with the main UK banks that are deemed systemically 
important to the UK economy. 

As a result of continued pressure and uncertainty within the financial markets, the 
security of any investment is the key consideration in decision making and a cautious 
approach will always be adopted.  Whilst this report identifies all permitted options in 
investment decision making, tighter controls govern daily activity limiting the number 
of counterparties with whom investments will be placed and the value of the total 
holding with any single institution.  Regular monitoring of all institutions on the 
counterparty list is part of daily treasury management.  In any period of significant 
stress in the markets, the default position will be to invest with the governments Debt 
Management Office (DMO). 



 3

The impact of interest rates is crucial to all treasury management activity and 
forecasts of interest rate movements are taken into account in developing treasury 
management strategy.  Consequently, this strategy is kept under review and, taking 
market information into account, will be realigned, if required, in line with evolving 
market conditions and expectations for future interest rates. 

In November 2011 CIPFA revised its Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
these amendments have been incorporated within the strategy and additionally a 
revised Treasury Management Policy Statement issued. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

It is recommended that Audit Committee: 

 (i) Endorse the Treasury Management Strategy for 2012/13 as outlined in 
the report. 

 (ii) Note that the indicators as reported have been set on the assumption 
that the recommendations in the Capital Update report will be approved.  
Should the recommendations change, the Prudential Indicators may have 
to be recalculated. 

 (iii) Note that due to the early timing of this report, changes may still be 
required following the finalisation of capital and revenue budgets and 
therefore any significant changes to this report will be highlighted in the 
final version that is presented to Full Council. 

COUNCIL  

It is recommended that Council: 

 

 (i) Approve the Council’s Treasury Management (TM) Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators for 2012/13, 2013/14 and 2014/15, as detailed 
within the report; and note and agree in particular the lowering of the 
minimum credit rating, as recommended by our advisors, from A+ to A- 
(as detailed in paragraph 32). 

 (ii) Approve the 2012 MRP Statement (as detailed in paragraph 47) 

 (iii) Approve the Annual Investment Strategy (as detailed in paragraphs 26-
45) 

 (iv) Approve the adoption of  the revised Treasury Management Code of 
Practice & Guidance notes and subsequent amendments (as detailed in 
paragraph 64) 

 (v) Note that at the time of writing this report the recommendations in the 
Capital Programme Update report, submitted to Council on the 15 
February 2012, have not yet been approved.  The indicators in the report 
are based on the assumption that they will be approved, but should the 
recommendations change, the Prudential Indicators may have to be 
recalculated 

 (vi) Continue to delegate authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources, Leisure 
and Culture, to approve any changes to the Prudential Indicators or 



 4

borrowing limits that will aid good treasury management.   

 

For example, an increase in the percentage for variable rate borrowing to 
take advantage of the depressed market for short term rates.  Any 
amendments will be reported as part of quarterly financial and 
performance monitoring and in revisions to the TM Strategy. 

 (vii) Note the continued use of the Interest Equalisation Reserve, the creation 
of which was approved to help to manage the impact on annual budget 
decisions of volatility and the ultimate increase in interest rates which will 
be felt when the Council locks back into long term fixed rates.  The 
Reserve will be maintained at an appropriate level and savings arising 
from lower than anticipated interest rates be added to the equalisation 
reserve to further protect the Council from future increase in debt charges 
where it is prudent to do so. 

   

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. In order to comply with Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, and the 
established treasury management procedures that have been adopted by the 
Authority, each year the Council must set certain borrowing limits and approve a 
treasury management strategy which includes: 

• Treasury Management Strategy for 2012/13 – Borrowing; paragraphs 
18-22, Debt Rescheduling; paragraphs 23-25, Investments; paragraphs 
26-45. 

• MRP Statement – Paragraph 47. 

• Prudential Indicators – Paragraphs 53-74.  (Note that the Authorised 
Limit is a statutory limit). 

• Use of Specified and Non-Specified Investments – Paragraphs 27-34. 

  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. Alternative options for borrowing would depend on decisions taken on the 
review of the capital programme, which are being taken at Full Council on 15 
February 2012. 

 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

 CONSULTATION 

3. The proposed Capital Programme Update report on which this report is based 
has been subject to separate consultation processes. 

 
 

 BACKGROUND 

4. The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a system for borrowing based 
largely on self-regulation by local authorities themselves.  The basic principle of 
the new system is that local authorities will be free to borrow as long as their 



 5

capital spending plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  
 

5. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice 
for Treasury Management in Public Services, (the “CIPFA TM Code”), and the 
Prudential Code require local authorities to determine a Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Prudential Indicators on an annual basis.  The 
TMSS also incorporates the Annual Investment Strategy (AIS), as required 
under the Investment Guidance issued by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government’s (CLG). 

6. Treasury Management is about the management of risk.  The Authority is 
responsible for its treasury decisions and activity.  No treasury management 
activity is without risk.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk is the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the Council.  The 
main risks to the Council’s treasury activities are: 

• Liquidity Risk (Inadequate cash resources) 

• Market or Interest Rate Risk (Fluctuations in interest rate levels and 
thereby in the value of investments). 

• Inflation Risks (Exposure to inflation) 

• Credit and Counterparty Risk (Security of Investments) 

• Refinancing Risks (Impact of debt maturing in future years). 

Legal & Regulatory Risk (i.e. non-compliance with statutory and 
regulatory requirements, risk of fraud). 

7. The purpose of this TMSS is to allow Council to approve: 

• Treasury Management Strategy for 2012/13 

• Prudential Indicators for 2012/13, 2013/14 and 2014/15 

• 2012 MRP Statement 

• Annual Investment Strategy 2012/13 

• Adoption of the revised Treasury Management Code of Practice & 
Guidance notes and subsequent amendments 

8. The strategy takes into account the impact of the Council’s Revenue Budget 
and Capital Programme on the Balance Sheet position, the Prudential Indicators 
and the current and projected Treasury position (Appendix 1).  The outlook for 
interest rates (Appendix 2) has also been taken into account in developing this 
strategy  

9. The Council acknowledges that effective TM will provide support towards the 
achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is therefore committed to 
the principles of achieving value for money in TM, and to employing suitable 
comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context of 
effective risk management.  To aid the Council in carrying out its TM function, it 
has appointed TM Advisors (Arlingclose), who advise the Council on strategy 
and provide market information to aid decision making.  However it should be 
noted that the decisions are taken independently by the CFO taking into account 



 6

this advice and other internal and external factors. 

10. The CIPFA TM Code was revised in November 2011 and as per requirements 
of the Prudential Code and Council are asked to approve the adoption of the 
revised code. 

11. All treasury activity will comply with relevant statue, guidance and accounting 
standards. 

  

 BALANCE SHEET AND TREASURY POSITION 

12. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) together with Balances and Reserves are the 
core drivers of Treasury Management Activity.  

13. The Authority’s current level of debt and investments is set out at Appendix 1. 

14. The Authority is able to borrow funds in excess of the current level of its CFR 
up to the projected level in 2014/15.  The Authority is likely to only borrow in 
advance of need if it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now 
compared to where they are expected to be in the future, outweighs the current 
cost and risks associated with investing the proceeds until the borrowing was 
actually required.  

15. The forecasted movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential 
Indicators (PIs).  The movement in actual external debt and usable reserves 
combine to identify the Authority’s borrowing requirement and potential 
investment strategy in the current and future years.  This shows that the capital 
expenditure plans of the Authority cannot be funded entirely from sources other 
than external borrowing. 

 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£M £M £M £M

General Fund CFR 265 265 264 264

Housing CFR** 179 176 176 177

Total CFR 444 441 440 441

Less:

Balances & Reserves 36 21 17 15

22
Cumulative Net Borrowing 

Requirement / (Investments)
15 4 14

409 404

Cumulative Maximum External  

Borrowing Requirement
51 25 31 37

Existing Profile of Borrowing and 

Other Long Term Liabilities
393 416

 
**This figure reflects the increase resulting from Housing Reform 

 

The existing profile of borrowing and other long term liabilities does not include 
potential LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) loan maturities which may 
or may not occur. All of the LOBO loans are currently in their call state 



 7

 

 REFORM TO THE COUNCIL HOUSING SUBSIDY SYSTEM 

16. The Council housing self-financing reforms involve the removal of the housing 
subsidy system by transferring a one-off allocation of national housing debt in 
return for the retention in the future of all rental income that is currently pooled 
under the subsidy regime.  Settlement date is 28 March 2012 and will result in 
the Council increasing it’s debt by the sum of £75.5M to fund the currently 
estimated settlement figure of £75.5M in return for the cessation of the annual 
subsidy payment to central government that currently amounts to £6.5M per 
annum. 

The Council has the option of borrowing externally from the PWLB or the 
market and, in conjunction with treasury advisors, considered a mix of financial 
instruments to spread Treasury risks.  In a departure from current Treasury 
practice this portfolio will be entirely ring-fenced to the HRA and hence 
eliminate any potential liability on the General Fund through complex statutory 
recharging methodologies. 

On the 20 September 2011, HM Treasury announced the PWLB rates offered 
to local authorities would be temporarily reduced to allow councils to borrow at 
lower levels for their one-off HRA reform settlement payment.  This will enable 
the Council to borrow at around 0.13% above the equivalent gilt yield (current 
borrowing rates are 1% above the gilt yield) to fund the HRA transaction.  
These lower rates will be available on 26 March 2012 only.  Although various 
sources of borrowing will be considered, it is likely that due to the temporary 
reduction, all HRA reform financing will be sourced from the PWLB, utilising 
fixed rate loans with varying maturities.  The current forecast interest rate for 
this borrowing is 4% and this has been built into the HRA business plan. 

In order to monitor how the HRA is managing its debt portfolio a new prudential 
indicators (paragraph 74) has been introduced which shows how the actual 
and estimated debt compares to the Indicative Debt Cap which is a limit set as 
part of the housing determination. This limit of HRA indebtedness has been set 
at £201M for 2012/13 and the following two years.  

  

 OUTLOOK FOR INTEREST RATES 

17. The economic interest rate outlook provided by the Council’s treasury advisor, 
Arlingclose, is attached at Appendix 2, and indicates that rates are likely to 
remain lower for longer.  The Council also monitors other sources of market 
information and will reappraise its strategy from time to time and, if required, 
realign it with evolving market conditions and expectations for future interest 
rates. 

  

 BORROWING STRATEGY 

18. Treasury management and borrowing strategies in particular, continue to be 
influenced not only by the absolute level of borrowing rates but also the 
relationship between short and long term interest rates.  The interest rate 
forecast provided in Appendix 2 indicates that an acute difference between short 
and longer term interest rates is expected to continue.   

 



 8

This difference creates a “cost of carry” for any new longer term borrowing 
where the proceeds are temporarily held as investments because of the 
difference between what is paid on the borrowing and what is earned on the 
investment.  Whilst the cost of carry can be assumed to be a reasonably short-
term issue since borrowing is often for longer dated periods (anything up to 50 
years) it cannot be ignored against a backdrop of uncertainty and affordability 
constraints in the Authority’s wider financial position 

As indicated in the table in paragraph 15, the Authority has a gross and net 
borrowing requirement and will be required to borrow up to £25M in 2012/13.  
The Authority will adopt a flexible approach to this borrowing in consultation with 
its treasury management advisers.  The following issues will be considered prior 
to undertaking any external borrowing: 

• Affordability; 

• Maturity profile of existing debt; 

• Interest rate and refinancing risk; 

• Borrowing source. 

 
 

 Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio implications 

19. In conjunction with advice from its treasury advisor, the Authority will keep under 
review the following borrowing sources: 

• PWLB  

• Local authorities  

• Commercial banks 

• European Investment Bank 

• Money markets 

• Capital markets (stock issues, commercial paper and bills) 

• Structured finance 

• Leasing 

20. The cost of carry has resulted in an increased reliance upon shorter dated and 
variable rate borrowing.  This type of borrowing injects volatility into the debt 
portfolio in terms of interest rate risk but is counterbalanced by its affordability 
and alignment of borrowing costs with investment returns.  The Authority’s 
exposure to shorter dated and variable rate borrowing is kept under regular 
review by reference to the difference or spread between variable rate and 
longer term borrowing costs.  A narrowing in the spread by 0.5% between the 
variable rate and the 30 year fixed maturity will result in an immediate and 
formal review of the borrowing strategy to determine whether the exposure to 
shorter dated and variable rates is maintained or altered. 

21. The Council has exposed itself to interest rate risk by taking out variable debt.   
This was and continues to be very financially favourable in current markets but 
does mean that the Council must monitor markets to ensure it is not caught 
out.  During 2012/13 the Council will continue to review and take action as 
necessary to lessen this risk through a balanced combination of :- 



 9

• longer term fixed maturity loans, 

• medium term Equal Instalment of Principle (EIP) loans which are 
currently cheaper than longer term fixed, 

• longer term PWLB variable loans which have the option to be fixed at 
very short notice for a small fee and 

• variable rate investments to take advantage of increasing interest rates, 
mainly through the use of money market funds (MMF). 

In order to mitigate these risks further, the Council approved the creation of an 
Interest Equalisation Reserve in 2009.  At that point a major debt restructuring 
exercise was undertaken in order to take advantage of market conditions and 
produce net revenue savings.  In achieving this, the Council has exposed itself 
to short term variable interest rate risk and whilst in the current climate of low 
interest rates this remains a sound strategy, at some point when the market 
starts to move, the Council will need to act quickly to lock into fixed long term 
rates which may be at similar levels to the debt it restructured.  Furthermore, the 
volatility in the financial markets means that interest costs and investment 
income will continue to fluctuate for some time. 

It was therefore recommended that an Interest Equalisation Reserve be 
created to help to manage volatility in the future and ensure that there was 
minimal impact on annual budget decisions or council tax in any single year.  
The Reserve will be maintained at an appropriate level and savings arising 
from lower than anticipated interest rates be added to the equalisation reserve 
to further protect the Council from future increase in debt charges where it is 
prudent to do so. 

22. The Authority has £9M exposure to LOBO loans all of which can be “called” 
within 2012/13.  A LOBO is called when the Lender exercises their right to 
amend the interest rate on the loan at which point the Borrower can accept the 
revised terms or reject them and repay the loan.  LOBO loans present a 
potential refinancing risk to the Authority since the decision to call a LOBO is 
entirely at the lender’s discretion.  

Any LOBOs called will be discussed with the treasury advisers prior to 
acceptance of any revised terms.  The default position will be the repayment of 
the LOBO without penalty i.e. the revised terms will not be accepted. 

  

 DEBT RESCHEDULING 

23. The Authority’s debt portfolio can be restructured by prematurely repaying 
loans and refinancing them on similar or different terms to achieve a reduction 
in risk and/or savings in interest costs. 

24. The lower interest rate environment and changes in the rules regarding the 
premature repayment of PWLB loans has adversely affected the scope to 
undertaken meaningful debt restructuring although occasional opportunities 
arise.  The rationale for undertaking any debt rescheduling would be one or 
more of the following:  

• Savings in risk adjusted interest costs 

• Rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio 



 10

• Changing the maturity profile of the debt portfolio 

25. Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit Committee in 
the Annual Treasury Management Report and a mid year update.  Regular 
treasury management reports will also be presented as part of quarterly 
monitoring to Cabinet. 

  

 INVESTMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 

26. Guidance from CLG on Local Government Investments in England requires that 
an Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) be set. The Council’s investment priorities 
are: 

• Security of the invested capital; 

• Liquidity of the invested capital; 

• An optimum yield which is commensurate with security and liquidity 

27. Investments are categorised as ‘Specified’ or ‘Non Specified’ investments 
based on the criteria in the CLG Guidance.  Specified investments are sterling 
denominated investments with a maximum maturity of one year. T hey also 
meet the “high credit quality” as determined by the Authority and are not 
deemed capital expenditure investments under Statute.  Non specified 
investments are, effectively, everything else.  

Potential instruments for the Council’s use within its investment strategy are 
detailed below.  

Investment Specified Non-

Specified 

Term deposits with banks and building societies � � 

Term deposits with other UK local authorities � � 

Certificates of deposit with banks and building 

societies 
� � 

Gilts � � 

Treasury Bills (T-Bills) � � 

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks � � 

Local Authority Bills � � 

Commercial Paper � � 

Corporate Bonds � � 

AAA rated Money Market Funds � � 

Other Money Market and Collective Investment 

Schemes 
� � 

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility � � 
 



 11

28. The (CFO), under delegated powers, will undertake the most appropriate form 
of investments in keeping with the investment objectives, income and risk 
management requirements and Prudential Indicators.  Decisions taken on the 
core investment portfolio will be reported quarterly to Cabinet. 

29. Credit markets remain in a state of distress as a result of the excessive and 
poor performing debt within the financial markets.  In a number of countries the 
extent and implications of the debt they have built up has led to a sovereign 
debt crisis resulting in Standard & Poor’s rating agency, lowering the long-term 
ratings on nine Eurozone Sovereigns.  It is against this backdrop of uncertainty 
that the Authority’s investment strategy is framed. 

30. A number of changes have been implemented to the investment strategy for 
2012/13 in response to changes in the CLG Guidance and evolving conditions 
in financial markets.  This results in the inclusion of corporate bonds which the 
CLG have indicated will become an eligible non-capital investment from 1 April 
2012.  However, the principal amendments are in relation to the individual 
institutions with which the Authority is prepared to lend its funds. 

31. The Authority and its advisors, Arlingclose Ltd, select countries and financial 
institutions after analysis and ongoing monitoring of: 

• Published credit ratings for financial institutions (minimum long term 
rating of A- or equivalent for counterparties; AA+ or equivalent for non-UK 
sovereigns) 

• Credit Default Swaps (where quoted) 

• Economic fundamentals (for example Net Debt as a percentage of GDP) 

• Sovereign support mechanisms 

• Share Prices 

• Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and 
momentum 

• Subjective overlay – or, put more simply, common sense. 

Any institution can be suspended or removed should any of the factors identified 
above give rise to concern. 

32. As reported in the Quarter 2 monitoring report to Cabinet, the rating agencies 
undertook a systematic review of UK Banking Institutes which was completed 
in October 2011 and resulted in a downgrading of long-term ratings of a 
number of counterparties on the Council’s lending list.  The downgrades did not 
represent deterioration in the financial strength of the UK government or the 
banking system but reflected the fact that the government is now more likely to 
allow smaller institutions to fail if they get into financial difficulty.  As a result the 
Council now only has two counterparties which meet our current criteria of A+ 
who are actively in the market to take local authority investments. 

33. In order to provide a pragmatic framework to allow flexibility throughout the 
financial year and to allow the Council to continue investing with the main UK 
banks that are deemed systemically important to the UK economy, our 
advisors have recommended that the minimum credit rating should be reduced 
to A-.  



 12

Although there is no absolute guarantee there remains an implied level of 
government support for these banks as a number are deemed Globally 
Systemically Important Financial Institutions (G-SIFI).  The countries and 
institutions that will meet the revised criteria for term deposits, Certificates of 
Deposit (CDs) and call accounts are included in Appendix 3.  

34. It remains the Authority’s policy to make exceptions to counterparty policy 
established around credit ratings, but this is conditional and directional.  What 
this means is that an institution that meets criteria may be suspended, but 
institutions not meeting criteria will not be added. 

35. The Authority banks with the Co-Operative Bank which at the current time does 
not meet the revised minimum credit criteria of A- (or equivalent) long term.  
The Co-Operative Bank current rating sits one notch below the revised criteria 
and has a stable outlook.  However, few of the banks which meet our criteria 
are actively in the tendering process for local authority banking and it is a costly 
and complicated process.  With this in mind, despite the credit rating being 
below the Authority’s minimum criteria, it will continue to be used for short term 
liquidity requirements (overnight and weekend investments) and business 
continuity arrangements. 

  

 Investment Strategy 

36. With short term interest rates forecast to be low for even longer, an investment 
strategy will typically result in a lengthening of investment periods, where cash 
flow permits, in order to lock in higher rates of acceptable risk adjusted returns.  
The problem in the current environment is finding an investment counterparty 
providing acceptable levels of counterparty risk. 

37. In order to diversify an investment portfolio largely invested in cash, 
investments will be placed with a range of approved investment counterparties 
in order to achieve a diversified portfolio of prudent counterparties, investment 
periods and rates of return.  Maximum investment levels with each 
counterparty will be set to ensure prudent diversification is achieved. 

38. Money market funds (MMFs) will be utilised, but good treasury management 
practice prevails and whilst MMFs provide good diversification the Authority will 
also seek to diversify any exposure by utilising more than one MMF.  The 
Authority will also restrict its exposure to MMFs with lower levels of funds under 
management and will not exceed 0.5% of the net asset value of the MMF.  
Where MMF’s participate, the Council utilises the facilities of a MMF portal to 
make subscriptions and redemptions.  The portal procedure involves the use of 
a clearing agent however the Council’s funds are ring fenced throughout the 
process.     

39. The Council’s current level of investments is presented at Appendix 1. 

40. The Council’s in-house investments are made with reference to the outlook for 
the UK Bank Rate and money market rates.  

41. In any period of significant stress in the markets, the default position is for 
investments to be made with the DMO or in UK Treasury Bills.  Rates of 
interest available are below equivalent money market rates, but the returns are 
an acceptable trade-off for the guaranteed security of the Council’s capital. 



 13

42. The UK Bank Rate has been maintained at 0.5% since March 2009, and is 
anticipated to remain at low levels throughout 2012/13. Short term money 
market rates are likely to remain at very low levels for an extended period, 
which will have a significant impact on investment income and which has been 
reflected in the budget forecast. 

  

 Collective Investment Schemes (Pooled Funds) 

43. The Council has evaluated the use of Pooled Funds and determined the 
appropriateness of their use within the investment portfolio.  Pooled funds 
enable the Council to diversify the assets and the underlying risk in the 
investment portfolio and provide the potential for enhanced returns.  Any 
investment in pooled funds will be regularly monitored for both performance 
and to ensure their continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment 
objectives. 

  

 The Use of Financial Instruments for the Management of Risks 

44. Investments which constitute capital expenditure: Investments meeting the 
definition of capital expenditure can be financed from capital or revenue 
resources.  They are also subject to the CLG’s Guidance on “non-specified 
investments”.  Placing of such investments has accounting, financing and 
budgetary implications.  Whilst it is permissible to fund capital investments by 
increasing the underlying need to borrow, it should be noted that under the 
CLG’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, MRP should be applied 
over a 20 year period.  The Council has determined that it is not currently 
prudent to make investments which constitute capital expenditure.  These 
would presently need to be sourced from revenue and therefore the 
requirement for MRP would make the investment not viable. 

45. The use of financial instruments for the management of risks: Currently, Local 
Authorities’ legal power to use derivative instruments remains unclear. The 
General Power of Competence enshrined in the Localism Act is not sufficiently 
explicit.  Consequently, the authority does not intend to use derivatives.  
Should this position change, the Council may seek to develop a detailed and 
robust risk management framework governing the use of derivatives, but this 
change in strategy will require full Council approval. 

  

 BALANCED BUDGET REQUIREMENT 

46. The Council complies with the provisions of S32 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 to set a balanced budget. 

  

 2012/13 MRP STATEMENT 

47. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/414) place a duty on local authorities 
to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  

 



 14

Guidance on MRP has been issued by the Secretary of State. Local authorities 
are required to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003. 

The four MRP options available are: 

• Option 1: Regulatory Method 

• Option 2: CFR Method 

• Option 3: Asset Life Method 

• Option 4: Depreciation Method 

NB This does not preclude other prudent methods to provide for the repayment of 
debt principal. 

MRP in 2012/13: Option 1 and 2 will be used for the majority of General Fund 
historic debt particularly that deemed to be supported through the Revenue 
Support Grant.  For major projects where capital expenditure is funded from 
prudential borrowing Option 3 will be used to provide MRP over the life of the 
asset to which the borrowing was applied. 

Following the HRA self-financing settlement, HRA debt will increase from 
£104M to £179M with a borrowing cap of £201M. It is proposed that the HRA 
will make provision within its business plan to show that it can pay down this 
debt over the life of the 30 year business plan. 

MRP in respect of leases and Private Finance Initiative schemes brought on 
Balance Sheet under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
based Accounting Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment 
for the associated deferred liability. 

If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the 
year, a revised statement would be put to Full Council at that time. 

  

 MONITORING AND REPORTING ON THE ANNUAL TREASURY OUTTURN 
AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

48. The Chief Financial Officer will report to the Audit Committee on treasury 
management activity / performance as follows: 

(a) A mid year review against the strategy approved for the year. 

(b) An outturn report on its treasury activity, no later than 30 September 
after the financial year end. 

49. In addition, a quarterly update will be presented to Cabinet as part of Quarterly 
Revenue Financial Monitoring. 

  

 REVISION TO THE CIPFA TREASURY MANAGEMENT CODE OF 
PRACTICE AND GUIDANCE NOTES 

50. CIPFA revised the TM Code and associated Guidance Notes in November 
2011.  This revision is an update to the TM Code and Guidance Notes last 
published in November 2009 and approved by Council in February 2010.  The 
TM Code has been reviewed and updated following recent developments and 
the regulatory changes relating to the Localism Act 2011, including housing 
finance reform and the introduction of the General Power of Competence.  



 15

Below are the principle changes to the code: 

• The Council must explicitly state in their TMSS whether they plan to use 
derivative instruments to manage risks, and ensure they have the legal 
power to do so.  (Paragraph 45). 

• The Council will need to make reference to their high level approach to 
borrowing and investment in their Treasury Management Policy 
Statement.  (See Appendix 4 for the revised Treasury Management 
Policy Statement) 

• Less focus has been placed on the ‘minimum credit limits’ for investment 
counterparties, with more focus on the ‘minimum acceptable credit 
quality.  (Paragraphs 31-32). 

• New treasury indicator: Upper limits on the proportion of net debt to 
gross debt; to highlight where an authority may be borrowing in advance 
of its cash requirement.  (Paragraph 65). 

• The Council may wish to create a new treasury indicator which 
considers credit risk.  (Paragraph 69-72). 

• Expansion of the risk management chapter (paragraphs 69 -72). 

• New Section in the TM Code Guidance Notes on the ‘Treasury 
Management Implications of the Housing Self-Financing Reform.  
(Paragraph 16). 

  

 TRAINING 

51. CIPFA’s revised Code requires the CFO to ensure that all Members tasked with 
treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and 
understand fully their roles and responsibilities.  Member training was last 
undertaken on the 12 January 2012 and it is the intention to rerun this later in 
the year.  The Council adopts a continuous performance and development 
programme to ensure staff is regularly appraised and any training needs 
addressed.  Treasury staff also attend regular training sessions, seminars and 
workshops which ensure their knowledge is up to date and relevant.  Details of 
training received are maintained as part of the performance and development 
process. 

  

 INVESTMENT CONSULTANTS 

52. The CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommend that the 
Investment Strategy should state: 

• Whether and, if so, how the Authority uses external contractors offering 
information, advice or assistance relating to investment and 

• How the quality of any such service is controlled. 

The Council has a contract in place with Arlingclose to provide a treasury 
advisory service, which details the agreed schedule of services.  Performance 
is measured against the schedule of services to ensure the services being 
provided are in line with the agreement.  



 16

However it should be noted that the decisions are taken independently by the 
CFO taking into account this advice and other internal and external factors. 

  

 PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 Background 

53. There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local 
authorities to have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing 
their Prudential Indicators. 

 Net Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement 

54. This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium 
term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should 
ensure that the net external borrowing does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional increases to the CFR for the current and next two financial years.  

The CFO reports that the Authority had no difficulty meeting this requirement in 
2011/12, nor are there any difficulties envisaged for future years. This view 
takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in 
the approved budget. 

There is a significant difference between the gross external borrowing 
requirement and the net external borrowing requirement represented by the 
Council’s level of balances, reserves, provisions and working capital.  The 
Council’s current strategy is only to borrow to the level of its net borrowing 
requirement.  The reasons for this are to reduce credit risk, take pressure off the 
Council’s lending list and also to avoid the cost of carry existing in the current 
interest rate environment 

 Estimates of Capital Expenditure 

55. It is a requirement of the Prudential Code to ensure that capital expenditure 
remains within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on 
council tax and in the case of the HRA, housing rent levels. 

 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

General Fund 69,426 81,678 54,334 15,349 468

HRA 25,892 25,742 31,493 32,632 34,506

Total 95,318 107,420 85,827 47,981 34,974

Capital Expenditure

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 17

Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows: 
 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Capital receipts 11,676 8,107 21,187 10,852 2,720

Government Grants 36,998 52,110 19,950 6,009 468

Revenue contributions 7,371 6,928 4,774 584 117

Major Repairs Allowance  13,096 13,096 17,172 17,388 17,718

Revenue 15,579 12,015 13,301 3,374 7,321

Total Financing 84,720 92,256 76,384 38,207 28,344

Supported borrowing 0 0 0 0 0

Unsupported borrowing 10,598 15,164 9,443 9,774 6,630

Total Funding 10,598 15,164 9,443 9,774 6,630

Total Financing & Funding 95,318 107,420 85,827 47,981 34,974

Capital Financing

 
 

 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

56. This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs.  The ratio is based on costs 
net of investment income.  The upper limit for this ratio is currently set at 10% 
to allow for known borrowing decision in the next two years and to allow for 
additional borrowing affecting major schemes.  The table below shows the 
likely position based on the proposed capital programme.  The table below 
indicates that HRA will go above this as a result of the HRA debt buyout but 
these costs have been built into their 30 year business plan.  The overall 
indicator is well within the 10% limit.  

 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

% % % % %

General Fund 7.09% 5.51% 4.27% 3.62% 2.92%

HRA 5.75% 5.52% 10.92% 11.05% 10.84%

Total 7.49% 6.73% 8.25% 8.47% 8.47%

Ratio of Financing Costs 

to Net Revenue Stream

 
 

 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

57. The CFR measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the 
Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure and its’ financing. 

 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M

General Fund 255 265 265 264 264

HRA 106 179 176 176 177

Total CFR 361 444 441 440 441

Capital Financing 

Requirement

 

 



 18

The year–on-year change in the CFR is due to the following: 

 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Forecast

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M

Balance B/F 360 361 444 441 440

Capital expenditure financed 

from borrowing 
11 19 15 18 15

HRA debt buyout & principal 

repayments
75 (8) (8) (6)

Revenue provision for debt 

Redemption.
(8) (7) (8) (7) (6)

Movement in Other Long 

Term Liabilities
(2) (4) (2) (4) (2)

Cumulative Maximum 

External Borrowing 

Requirement

361 444 441 440 441

Capital Financing 

Requirement

 
 

 Actual External Debt 

58. This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet.  It is the 
closing balance for actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities.  This 
Indicator is measured in a manner consistent for comparison with the 
Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit. 
 

£

£000's

Borrowing 225,803

Other Long-term Liabilities 71,722

Total 297,525

Actual External Debt as at 

31/03/2011

 
 

 Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions 

59. This indicator is intended to estimate the impact of capital investment decisions 
on the council tax and rent levels in future years.  It compares what the capital 
financing costs are expected to be with the current approved capital 
programmes (i.e. the programmes approved in September 2011) with what the 
capital financing costs are estimated to be if the capital reports proposed 
elsewhere on the agenda are approved.  It is intended to show how the 
decision to approve the new programme will impact in future years i.e. what the 
effect of any new borrowing will be on council tax and housing rents.  (Much of 
the increase over the 3 years is as a result of adding the 2013/14 schemes to 
the capital programme and additional unsupported borrowing). 

60. For the HRA, the reality is that the rent levels are set under the Government’s 
rent restructuring formula, which is independent of the level of capital 
investment and borrowing.  The calculation of the indicator ignores this factor.  
The incremental impact of capital investments decisions are estimated to be: 
 

2011/12  

Approved

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£ £ £ £

6.76 2.94 3.29 4.34

17.03 (2.41) 2.53 (12.71)Increase in Average Weekly Housing 

Incremental Impact of Capital 

Investment Decisions

Increase in Band D Council Tax

 



 19

 Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 

61. The Council has an integrated treasury management strategy and manages its 
treasury position in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  
Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a consequence of all the financial 
transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital spending 
reflected in the CFR. 

62. The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a 
gross basis (i.e. not net of investments) for the Council.  It is measured on a 
daily basis against all external borrowing items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long 
and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term liabilities).  
This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term 
liabilities such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing 
commitments, its proposals for capital expenditure and financing and its 
approved treasury management policy statement and practices.   

The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent 
but not worst case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to 
allow for unusual cash movements, for example a complete debt restructure 
which requires monies to be borrowed in advance of repayment of existing 
debt.  The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) 
of the Local Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the 
Affordable Limit). 
 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Borrowing 486 696 832 852 840

Other Long-term Liabilities 77 79 79 81 86

Total 563 775 911 933 926

Authorised Limit for 

External Debt

 

The limit from 2012/13 have been increased to accommodate the increased debt 
taken on as a result of Housing Subsidy Reform; there was no need to revise the 
existing limit as there is sufficient headroom to accommodate the additional £75.5m. 
 

63. The Operational Boundary is linked directly to the Council’s estimates of the 
CFR and estimates of other day to day cash flow requirements.  This indicator 
is based on the same estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most 
likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional headroom 
included within the Authorised Limit. 
 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Borrowing 471 665 794 813 802

Other Long-term Liabilities 71 75 75 78 82

Total 542 740 869 891 884

Operational Boundary for 

External Debt

 
 

The CFO has delegated authority, within the above limits for any individual 
year, to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing 
and other long term liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of 
financial option appraisals and best value considerations.  Council will be 
notified of any use of this delegated authority 



 20

 Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 

64. This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best 
practice and all subsequent updates as detailed in paragraph 52. 
 

The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code at its Council meeting on 19th February 2003. 

 

The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice 
into its treasury policies, procedures and practices. 
 

 Gross and Net Debt 

65. This is a new indicator which was intended to highlight a situation where the 
Council is planning to borrow in advance of need.  However in its current 
format it does not work as intended and our advisors have been in contact with 
CIPFA who have just confirmed that until further formal guidance is issued, 
local authorities should still include this indicator within their Treasury 
Strategies but state on what basis it has been drawn up.  We have completed 
the indicator on the expected position at year end and have included internal 
borrowing in the gross debt figure.  
 

2011/12  

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£M £M £M £M

Outstanding Borrowing (at 

nominal Value) inc of 

internal borrowing

409 439 423 416

Other Long-term Liabilities 

(at nominal value)

79 79 81 86

Gross Debt 488 518 504 502

Less Investments 50 33 33 33

Net Debt 438 485 471 469

Gross and Net Debt

 

 
 

 Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure 

66. The following Prudential Indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to 
which it is exposed to changes in interest rates.  The upper limit for variable 
rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not exposed to 
interest rate rises, which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The 
limit allows for the use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in 
short term rates on investments. 



 21

Existing 

level at 

31/12/2011

2011/12 

Approved

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

% % % % %

Upper Limit for Fixed 

Interest Rate Exposure
100 100 100 100 100

Upper Limit for Variable 

Interest Rate Exposure
50 50 50 50 50

 
 

The Council will also limit and monitor large concentrations of fixed rate debt 
needing to be replaced.  The limits provide the necessary flexibility within which 
decisions will be made for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate 
basis; the decisions will ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated 
interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s TM strategy.  As all LOBO 
are now in their call options they have been included as under 12 months 
within this indicator. 

 Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing 

67. This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate 
debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is 
designed to protect against excessive exposures to interest rate changes in 
any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten years.  

68. It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing 
in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate.  
The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest date on 
which the lender can require payment.  

 
Lower Upper

Limit Limit

% % £000's % %

Under 12 months 0 45 15,504 1.03 7.69 Yes

12 months and within 24 

months

0

45

5,000 4.08 2.48 Yes

24 months and within 5 

years

0

50

9,000 2.78 4.47 Yes

5 years and within 10 years 0 75 106,981 3.23 53.10 Yes

10 years and within 20 years 0

75

0 0.00 0.00 Yes

20 years and within 30 years 0

75

10,000 4.68 4.96 Yes

30 years and within 40 years 0

75

30,000 4.62 14.89 Yes

40 years and within 50 years 0

75

25,000 3.89 12.41 Yes

50 years and above 0 100 0 0.00 0.00 Yes

201,484 3.45% 100.00

Average 

Fixed Rate 

as at 

31/12/2011

Compliance 

with set 

Limits?

Fixed Rate 

as at 

31/12/2011

Actual Fixed 

Debt as at 

31/12/2011

 
 

 Credit Risk 

69. The Council considers security, liquidity and yield, in that order, when making 
investment decisions. 

70. Credit ratings remain an important element of assessing credit risk, but they 
are not a sole feature in the Council’s assessment of counterparty credit risk. 



 22

71. The Council also considers alternative assessments of credit strength, and 
information on corporate developments of and market sentiment towards 
counterparties. The following key tools are used to assess credit risk: 

• Published credit ratings of the financial institution (minimum A- or 
equivalent) and its sovereign (minimum AA+ or equivalent for non-UK 
sovereigns); 

• Sovereign support mechanisms; 

• Credit default swaps (where quoted); 

• Share prices (where available); 

• Economic fundamentals, such as a country’s net debt as a percentage 
of its GDP); 

• Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and 
momentum; 

• Subjective overlay. 

72. The only indicators with prescriptive values remain to be credit ratings.  Other 
indicators of creditworthiness are considered in relative rather than absolute 
terms.  Our advisors collate quarterly investment information across their client 
base, (approximately 93 Local Government clients) and present in a graphical 
format how we compare with regards to counterparty credit quality and maturity 
of investments, this will be presented as part of quarterly monitoring to 
demonstrate our relative performance. 

 Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days 

73. The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that 
may arise as a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the 
sums invested. 
 

2011/12 

Approved

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M

50 50 50 50 50

Upper Limit for total 

principal sums invested 

over 364 days

 

 
 

 HRA Limit on Indebtedness 

74. Local authorities are required to report the level of the HRA CFR compared to 
the level of debt which is imposed (or subsequently amended) by the DCLG at 
the time of implementation of self – financing. 
 

2011/12 

Revised

2012/13 

Estimate

2013/14 

Estimate

2014/15 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

HRA Debt Cap (as prescribed by CLG) * 201.3 201.3 201.3 201.3

179.3 175.5 176.2 177.4

22.0 25.8 25.1 23.9

HRA Limit on Indebtedness

Difference

HRA CFR

 
 

*N.B. This may change following the final determinations due out at the end of 
January 2012. 



 

 23

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital 

75. The Capital implications are considered as part of the General Fund Capital 
Programme report and HRA Capital Programme report elsewhere on the 
Council agenda. 

Revenue 

76. The Revenue implications are considered as part of the General Fund Revenue 
Budget report and HRA Revenue Budget report elsewhere on the Council 
agenda. 

Property/Other 

77. None 

  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory Power to undertake the proposals in the report:  

78. Local Authority borrowing is regulated by Part 1, of the Local Government Act 
2003, which introduced the new Prudential Capital Finance System.  From 1 
April 2004, investments are dealt with, not in secondary legislation, but through 
guidance.  Similarly, there is guidance on prudent investment practice, issued 
by the Secretary of State under Section 15(1)(a) of the 2003 Act. A local 
authority has the power to invest for "any purpose relevant to its functions 
under any enactment or for the purposes of the prudent management of its 
financial affairs".  The reference to the "prudent management of its financial 
affairs" is included to cover investments, which are not directly linked to 
identifiable statutory functions but are simply made in the course of treasury 
management.  This also allows the temporary investment of funds borrowed for 
the purpose of expenditure in the reasonably near future; however, the 
speculative procedure of borrowing purely in order to invest and make a return 
remains unlawful. 

  

Other Legal Implications: 

79. None 

 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

80. This report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management 

  

 

 

AUTHOR: Name:  Alison Chard Tel: 023 80 4897 

 E-mail: Alison.Chard@southampton.gov.uk 



 24

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Existing Portfolio Projected forward 

2. Economic and Interest Outlook 

3. Recommended Sovereign and Counterpart List 

4. Treasury Management Policy Statement 

  

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1.  

2.  

Integrated Impact Assessment   

Do the implications/subject/recommendations in the report require an 
Integrated Impact Assessment to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS 
2011/12 TO 2013/14 – Council 16 February 
2011 

 

2.   

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:  

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:  

 



APPENDIX 1 

 

31-Mar-12 31-Mar-13 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-15

Estimate  Estimate Estimate Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M

External Borrowing: 

    Fixed Rate – PWLB 186 258 254 250 245

    Fixed Rate – Market 16 20 25 25 25

    Variable Rate – PWLB 35 35 60 60 60

    Variable Rate – Market 11 11 11 11 11

Total Loan Portfolio 248 324 350 346 341

Other long-term liabilities:

HCC Transferred Debt 19 18 18 17 17

 - PFI 50 49 47 46 46

 - Operating Leases 4 2 1 0 0

Total Gross External Debt 321 393 416 409 404

Investments:

Deposits and monies on call 

and Money Market Funds
90 44 30 30 30

Supranational bonds 6 6 3 3 3

Total Investments 96 50 33 33 33

Net Borrowing Position 225 343 383 376 371

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

&

 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2012/13 to 2014/15

Current 

Portfolio 

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

 

 

ECONOMIC AND INTEREST OUTLOOK 
 
The economic interest rate outlook provided by the Council’s treasury advisor, 
Arlingclose Ltd, for December 2011 is detailed below.  The Council will reappraise 
its strategy from time to time and, if needs be, realign it with evolving market 
conditions and expectations for future interest rates.  
 

 

Dec-11 Mar-12 Jun-12 Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13 Jun-13 Sep-13 Dec-13 Mar-14 Jun-14 Sep-14 Dec-14

Official Bank Rate

Upside risk     0.25     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50    0.50 

Downside risk

1-yr LIBID

Upside risk     0.25     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    1.75    1.75    1.75    1.75    1.75    1.80    1.85    1.95    2.00    2.10    2.20    2.30    2.40 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 

5-yr gilt

Upside risk     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    1.25    1.30    1.35    1.40    1.50    1.60    1.70    1.80    2.00    2.10    2.30    2.40    2.50 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 

10-yr gilt

Upside risk     0.25     0.25     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    2.20    2.30    2.40    2.45    2.50    2.55    2.60    2.70    2.75    2.80    2.85    2.90    3.00 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 

20-yr gilt

Upside risk     0.25     0.25     0.25     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    3.00    3.05    3.05    3.10    3.20    3.25    3.30    3.35    3.40    3.45    3.50    3.60    3.75 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 

50-yr gilt

Upside risk     0.25     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50 

Central case    3.25    3.40    3.50    3.60    3.70    3.80    3.90    4.00    4.00    4.00    4.10    4.20    4.25 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25  
 

Key Issues 
 

• Momentum in economic growth is scarce.  

• Conventional monetary policy has become largely redundant; the Bank of 
England and the US Federal Reserve have signalled their respective official 
interest rates will be on hold through to the end of 2012.  We think that it 
could be 2016 before official interest rates rise.  

• The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has returned to 
unconventional monetary policy and embarked on a further round of 
Quantitative Easing (QE).  There will be more to come.  

 
Underlying Assumptions: 
 

• Against a backdrop of turmoil within the Eurozone and the unwillingness of 
its politicians to acknowledge and issue a credible plan to resolve it the 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
result is that financial markets continue to see saw between risk "on" and 
risk "off" daily patterns.  The reality is that the risk "off" days outnumber the 
risk "on" days with the implication that the growth outlook is an increasing 
cause for concern. 

• Despite the efforts of the politicians at the Brussels summit, the initial 
optimism of markets has been punctured, as once again, the lack of 
credible detail on the delivery of action as opposed to aspirations becomes 
worryingly clear.  The detail appears to amount to the news that President 
Sarkozy will head to China to secure funds for the extended EFSF.   

• The MPC's decision to embark on a further £75 billion of QE, (which the 
Minutes showed was unanimously supported), demonstrated the strength of 
the economic headwinds that are blowing against the nascent UK economic 
recovery.  For growth to occur you need somebody to spend. 

• Inflation increased more than predicted to 5.2% in September.  Energy 
prices continued to be the primary cause although the markets are now less 
interested in inflation given the economic growth focus.  The Bank's Inflation 
Forecasts still point to a sharp downturn in CPI into 2012 as the index 
effects of VAT and earlier energy price shocks subside. 

• Business confidence has yet to recover sufficiently for commitment to new 
capital investment and employment.  Taken together the levels of 
unemployment remain very high and are a significant drag on consumption 
despite reasonably robust retail sales data.  

• Quarter 3 GDP is expected to be weak but positive. 

• Public Finances remain just about on track to meet the Coalition’s target.  
With the risk of lower growth, there is very little scope for tax giveaways to 
boost business and consumer spending.  



APPENDIX 3 

RECOMMENDED SOVEREIGN AND COUNTERPARTY LIST 

Group Limits - For institutions within a banking group, a limit of 1.5 times the individual limit of a single bank within that group.   

Instrument Country/ 
Domicile 

Counterparty Maximum 
Counterparty 

Limit 

% / £M 

Maximum 
Group Limit 
(if applicable) 

% / £M 

Current 
Credit 
Rating 

Meet  A+ Limit / Notes 

(Institutions Which 
Are Now Available Due 
to Change in Criteria 
are Highlighted) 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Santander UK Plc (Banco Santander 
Group) 

£10 Million  A+ Yes but overnight only 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Bank of Scotland (Lloyds Banking Group) £10Million £7.5 Million A No 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Lloyds TSB (Lloyds Banking Group) £10Million £7.5 Million A No 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Barclays Bank Plc £10Million  A+ Yes 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Clydesdale Bank (National Australia 
Bank Group) 

£10 Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK HSBC Bank Plc £10 Million  AA- Yes but not readily 
accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Nationwide Building Society £10 Million  A No 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK NatWest (RBS Group) £10Million £7.5 Million A No 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS Group) £10 Million £7.5 Million A No 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts UK Standard Chartered Bank £10 Million  A+ Yes but not readily 
accessible 

 Term Deposits/Call Accounts Australia Australia and NZ Banking Group £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Australia National Australia Bank Ltd (National 
Australia Bank Group) 

£1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Australia Westpac Banking Corp £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

A
p
p
e
n

d
ix

 3



 

Instrument Country/ 
Domicile 

Counterparty Maximum 
Counterparty 

Limit 

% / £M 

Maximum 
Group Limit 
(if applicable) 

% / £M 

Current 
Credit 
Rating 

Meet  A+ Limit / Notes 

(Institutions Which 
Are Now Available Due 
to Change in Criteria 
are Highlighted) 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Canada Bank of Nova Scotia £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Canada Canadian Imperial Bank of 
Commerce 

£1Million  A+ Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Canada Royal Bank of Canada £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Canada Toronto-Dominion Bank £1Million  AA- Not readily accessible 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Finland Nordea Bank Finland £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts France BNP Paribas £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts France Credit Agricole CIB (Credit Agricole 
Group) 

£1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts France Credit Agricole SA (Credit Agricole 
Group) 

£1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts France Société Générale  £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Germany Deutsche Bank AG £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Netherlands ING Bank NV £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Netherlands Rabobank £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Netherlands Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Sweden Svenska Handelsbanken £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts Switzerland Credit Suisse £1Million   Currently Suspended 

Term Deposits/Call Accounts US JP Morgan £1Million  A+ Not readily accessible 

**Please note this list could change if, for example, a counterparty/country is upgraded, and meets our other creditworthiness tools. Alternatively if a counterparty is 
downgraded, this list may be shortened. 



APPENDIX 4 

  

 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

 

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

1.1  The Council adopts the key recommendations of CIPFA’s Treasury Management 

in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the Code), as described in Section 5 of 

the Code.  

1.2  Accordingly, the Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 

treasury management:- 

§ A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 

approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

§ Suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in 

which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and 

prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. 

1.3 The Council (i.e. full Council) will receive reports on its treasury management 

policies, practices and activities including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and 

plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close, 

in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

1.4 The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its 

treasury management policies and practices to Audit Committee and for the 

execution and administration of treasury management decisions to Chief Financial 

Officer, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and 

TMPs and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

1.5 The Council nominates audit committee to be responsible for ensuring effective 

scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.  

2. POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

2.1 The Council defines its treasury management activities as: 

“The management of the Council’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 

money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 

associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 

consistent with those risks.” 

2.2 This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 

be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 

activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



APPENDIX 4 

  

 
 

management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and 

any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks. 

2.3 This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 

support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is 

therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 

management, and to employing suitable performance measurement techniques, 

within the context of effective risk management.” 

2.4 The Council’s borrowing will be affordable, sustainable and prudent and 

consideration will be given to the management of interest rate risk and refinancing 

risk.  The source from which the borrowing is taken and the type of borrowing 

should allow the Council transparency and control over its debt.  

2.5 The Council’s primary objective in relation to investments remains the security of 

capital.  The liquidity or accessibility of the Authority’s investments followed by the 

yield earned on investments remain important but are secondary considerations.   

 


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Including Matters Arising)
	5 Annual Governance Statement 2011/12
	AGS - APP1

	6 Audit Commission: Audit and Inspection Progress Report
	Appendix - Audit Commission 2011-2012 - Progress report (January 2012)

	7 Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Limits 2012/13 to 2014/15
	TM  appendix 1
	TM Appendix 2
	TM Appendix 3
	TM Appendix 4


